



NGO submission to the 58 session
(30 June – 18 July 2014) of
the United Nation's Committee on the Elimination of All Forms
of Discrimination against Women
related to the consideration of the fifth periodic report
submitted by **LITHUANIA**under Article 18 of the Convention

By the Center for Equality Advancement (Lithuania)

May 2014

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Though Lithuania made steps towards implementation of certain recommendations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, the failure of the Government of Lithuania to "systematically and continuously implement all the provisions of the Convention" cannot be overlooked as it considerably affects everyday lives of thousands of Lithuanian women.

Untill present, a very conservative approach to gender issues prevails in the policy discourse which consequently leads to the introduction of policy measures promoting traditional gender roles and the patriarchal family values.

**Public awareness of the CEDAW** as one of the fundamental human rights instruments, and of the Committee's concluding observations, **remains very low** and Lithuania has failed to take any actions to stimulate it. The national case-law in this regards is very telling – as the Government has itself recognized, to date there have been no cases referring to the provisions of the Convention or the Committee's jurisprudence.

State funded Lithuanian universities that teach Law do not include a course on *Women's rights* in the curriculum of Law programme. As a result, **law graduates from Lithuanian universities do not have a legal knowledge on women's rights in general**, nor on particular issues such as domestic violence, human trafficking, reproductive rights, gender based discrimination, etc.

There is no definition of multiple discrimination in the non-discrimination legislation in Lithuania, neither does it stipulate explicitly that discrimination on more than two grounds is considered to be a graver violation of the equality principle than unequal treatment on a single ground. The national courts are still not ready to adjudicate multiple discrimination cases. None of the anti-discrimination policies explicitly recognizes particular vulnerability of women belonging to sexual minorities and migrants.

In 2014 the Ministry of Social Security and Labour initiated discussions on **termination of the National Program of Equal Opportunities for Women and Men,** notwithstanding the evidence based research about the absence of systematic gender mainstreaming strategy in the state institutions.

The sex role stereotyping in Lithuania continues to be a serious problem. The state has failed to adopt a thorough national strategy which would promote changes in the social and cultural patterns of behaviour of women and men with a view to eradicating prejudices, customs, traditional and other practices which are based on the idea of inferiority of women and stereotyped roles for women and men.

Up till now **Lithuania has ignored the recommendation of CEDAW Committee** to adopt laws on temporary special measures or quotas to ensure gender balance in political and public life. No legislative initiatives to this end were tabled by any of the stakeholders.

Lithuania has not followed the recommendation of CEDAW committee to improve reconciliation of family and professional responsibilities and to promote equal sharing of domestic and family tasks between women and men, reduce sex segregation and pay gap in labour market. Statistics demonstrate that the allocation of child-care leave between women and men remains very uneven; and women are forced to take longer maternity leave due to difficult availability of kindergartens. Access to pre-school facilities in Lithuania is far below the EU average. Women's roles as primary care-givers are reinforced in the language of legal acts and policy making and in practices of employers who prefer recruit men. Country statistics show that vertical and horizontal gender segregation in the labour market prevails.

The state continues to consider legislative initiatives restricting access to safe and legal abortions and ignores CEDAW Committee's recommendation no. 24 on women and health. In 2013 a new draft law on restricting abortions has been debated in the Parliament. No reproductive health legislation has been adopted, though. Research proves that the access to modern contraception in Lithuania is one of the lowest in Europe. The sexual education at schools is out-dated because it grounds sexuality on chastity, ignores gender and sexual identity and focuses solely on dangers of contraception.

Lithuania continues legislating in a discriminatory manner to protect the concept of a family as a heterosexual married couple. No legal initiatives have been adopted to provide any legal protection for women in same-sex partnerships. Although it has been reported that at least 20 percent of lesbian or bisexual women in Lithuania are raising children, the non-biological mother is not allowed to adopt their partner's child under no circumstances. Moreover, there are draft amendments registered which would ensure adoption is denied on the basis of sexual orientation.

By adopting the Law on Protection against Domestic Violence, Lithuania brought certain major changes positive changes in the area of combating domestic violence. However, the first years of **its implementation revealed a number of issues related to both legal loopholes in the Law and implementing legislation and specifically to the poor practice of the application of the Law.** The main concerns include the gender neutrality of the law; absence of the effective monitoring mechanisms of implementation of protection orders; insufficient financial support for victim help centers and NGOs; lack of commitment for prevention of domestic violence; excessive application of reconciliation procedures; inadequate attention to police and judicial trainings.

Sexual violence against women, including intimate partner violence, remains an alarming issue which Lithuania has failed to address duly. The European Women's Lobby 's 2013 Barometer on Rape in Europe identifies Lithuania as one of six European countries whose legislation is far below the minimum standards as set forth in the Council of Europe Convention on combating and preventing violence against women and domestic violence. No strong condemnation of marital rape and lack of its explicit criminalization are the main issues of concern.

The drafters of this Shadow Report express a hope that the information provided will assist the Committee in assessing Lithuania's achievements and failures so far, and this assessment will result in the set of strong recommendations guiding the Government in implementing its obligations under the CEDAW.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
Introduction	5
I. ARTICLE 1 (DISCRIMINATION), ARTICLE 2 (POLICY MEASURES)	
I.1. Vulnerable groups of women, multiple discrimination	6
I. 1.1. Availability of legal remedies	6
I. 1.2. Anti-discrimination and integration policies	7
I. 2. National machinery for the advancement of women rights	8
II. ARTICLE 5 (SEX ROLE STEREOTYPING AND PREJUDICE)	8
III. ARTICLE 6 (PROSTITUTION)	10
IV. ARTICLE 7 (POLITICAL AND PUBLIC LIFE)	10
V. ARTICLE 11 (EMPLOYMENT)	11
VI. ARTICLE 12 (HEALTH)	12
VI. 1. Access to health services, reproductive health	12
VI. 2. Access to information about reproductive health, sex education	13
VII. ARTICLE 16 (MARRIAGE AND FAMILY LIFE)	14
VII. COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS NOS 12 AND 19 (VIOLENCE AGAINST	
WOMEN)	15
VII. 1. Violence against women, domestic violence	15
VII. 2. Sexual violence	
ANNEX I. Information about the Center for Equality Advancement	24
ANNEX II. List of Women's NGOs contributing to this shadow report	

#### Introduction

In the concluding observations regarding Lithuania's third and fourth period reports, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (Committee) recalled Lithuania's obligation "to systematically and continuously implement all the provisions of the Convention". The Committee regarded "the concerns and recommendations identified in the present concluding observations as requiring the State party's priority attention between now and the submission of the next periodic report."

Lithuania should be commended for making steps towards implementation of certain Committee's recommendation, and in particular for adopting in 2011 a long awaited Law for Protection against Domestic Violence. The strong lobby from women rights NGOs has achieved the adoption of the Law which defines domestic violence as an act of violation of human rights and freedom, which, due to damage caused to society, is attributable to acts of public significance.

Nevertheless, the failure of the State to "systematically and continuously implement all the provisions of the Convention" cannot be overlooked as it considerably affects everyday lives of thousands of Lithuanian women. Until present, a very conservative approach to gender issues prevails in the policy discourse which consequently leads to the introduction of policy measures promoting traditional gender roles and the patriarchal family values.

### About this report

This Shadow Report has been drafted by the Center for Equality Advancement (CEA), the Lithuania-based non-governmental organization promoting consolidation of equal rights for women and men and their implementation since 2003 (Annex I) in consultation with 17 women rights non-governmental organizations across Lithuania. (Annex II)

The Report answers the Committee's concluding observations regarding Lithuania's third and fourth period report issued in 2008, the *List of issues and questions in relation to the fifth periodic report of Lithuania* prepared by the Committee in 2013; information provided in Lithuania's fifth periodic report as well as in the *Reply to the List of issues* submitted by Lithuania in 2014. In 2013, the CEA has also submitted to the Committee the *List of critical issues*, however Lithuania has provided only a partial response to those.

This Report does not aim at providing a comprehensive overview of all the issues that have arose during the review period as regards implementation of Lithuania's obligations under CEDAW, but rather makes an attempt to highlight the most pressing concerns that require State party's immediate attention and the areas where State party's intervention has been long overdue.

The areas of concern, as outlined in this report, therefore include (i) the situation of vulnerable women experiencing multiple disadvantage; (ii) ineffective national machinery for the advancement of women's rights; (iii) sex roles stereotyping and prejudice; (iv) trafficking in human beings and women exploitation for prostitution; (v) gender imbalance in political and public life; (vi) discrimination in employment, including access to labor market, family-work balance, and retirement schemes; (vii) inaccessibility of reproductive health services; (viii) discriminatory family laws and policies; ix) violence against women, with a specific focus of domestic and sexual violence.

The Report has been made possible thanks to financial support from the EEA GRANTS NGO PROGRAMME in Lithuania.

The situation presented in this Report is of 9 May, 2014.

# I. ARTICLE 1 (DISCRIMINATION), ARTICLE 2 (POLICY MEASURES)

## I.1. Vulnerable groups of women, multiple discrimination

- 1. A volume of research conducted across the European Union and beyond suggests that women are subjected not only to unequal treatment on the basis of gender, but also to multiple forms of discrimination.
- 2. After considering third and fourth periodic reports of Lithuania, the Committee has noted with concern that minority women in Lithuania are being exposed to multiple forms of discrimination.<sup>3</sup> The Committee urged Lithuania "to intensify its efforts to eliminate discrimination against vulnerable groups of women", by *inter alia* (1) increasing awareness of the availability of legal remedies and (2) developing additional policies and programmes aimed at assisting vulnerable women.<sup>4</sup>
- 3. However, Lithuania has failed to implement either of the Committee's recommendations. Lithuanian legal system and in particular its anti-discrimination legislation suffers from a number of deficiencies which, in turn, create major obstacles for minority women to seek redress. The anti-discrimination policies adopted after the Committee has issued its recommendations, do not reflect the aggravated vulnerability of women with minority background, nor do they encompass any special measures to address it.
- 4. State funded Lithuanian universities that teach Law do not include a course on *Women's rights* in the curriculum of Law programme. As a result, law graduates from Lithuanian universities do not have a legal knowledge on women's rights in general, nor on particular issues such as domestic violence, human trafficking, reproductive rights, gender based discrimination, etc.

## I. 1.1. Availability of legal remedies

- 5. **Definition of multiple discrimination.** Two main pieces of non-discrimination legislation in Lithuania the Law on the Equal Treatment Between Men and Women and the Law on Equal Opportunities do not provide a definition of multiple discrimination,<sup>5</sup> neither do they stipulate explicitly that discrimination on more than two grounds is considered to be a graver violation of the equality principle than unequal treatment on a single ground.
- 6. **The role of the national equality body.** The Ombudsperson's Office is a national equality institution charged with the implementation of the anti-discrimination laws. Although in 2012, the Ombudsperson has acknowledged that "the negative impact of age on social life is more apparent for women, than for men, i.e. [we] could talk about multiple discrimination, which elderly women face more often than man", it failed to address it in any way. The statistical data shows that the Ombudsperson has not started any investigations regarding this issue ex officio. The reluctance to address such complicated case might also be attributed to the lack of expertise on the topic.
- 7. **Sanctions in discrimination cases.** Although the Ombudsperson has a power to apply administrative sanctions order a warning or a fine it rarely exercises such power in practice. For example, in 2005 the Ombudsperson issued a fine in 4% of all cases, in 2006 in 2%, in 2012 in 1% while in 2007-2011 no decisions to issue a fine were taken. Even in the most severe gender discrimination cases, the Ombudsperson resorts to peaceful resolution of disputes, by recommending to put an end to the violation and to act in the non-discriminatory way in the future.

8. Adjudication of multiple discrimination claims by courts. The national courts are still not ready to adjudicate multiple discrimination cases, as the single gender and disability discrimination case has proved. The applicant in the case has started working as an interpreter in the embassy, but during the probationary period her health seriously deteriorated and she became temporally incapacitated. Later same month, she informed the employer about her pregnancy and was accused of deception, fraud and later on dismissed. Before the national courts the applicant argued unfair dismissal due to discrimination on the grounds of disability and gender, however, the court found only discrimination on the ground of gender, without recognizing unequal treatment on the grounds of disability. Such conclusion fails to acknowledge particular vulnerability of disabled women, where a disability results from temporary incapacitation.

## I. 1.2. Anti-discrimination and integration policies

- 9. The anti-discrimination and integration policies the Government has developed to safeguard the rights of vulnerable groups in practice and facilitate their access to labour market, services, and education fail to acknowledge multifaceted disadvantage of vulnerable women and/or anticipate measures to address it accordingly. None of the anti-discrimination policies explicitly recognizes particular vulnerability of women belonging to *sexual minorities* and *migrants* in Lithuania. In particular:
  - a. *Programm of Social Integration of Persons with Disabilities2013-2019* mentions the increase in the number of complaints on two or more grounds before the Ombudsperson, but fails to include any general or special social integration measures tailored to the needs of disabled women.<sup>10</sup>
  - b. National Program of Equal Opportunities between Men and Women 2009-2014 recognizes the need for more information on the situation of ethnic minority women, women with disabilities and elderly women, <sup>11</sup> but fails to outline the structural problems such women face and foresee measures which would add to effective resolution of the problems. <sup>12</sup> Contrary to the Committee's recommendation, the Program does not provide for any "comprehensive studies on intersectional forms of discrimination against such vulnerable groups of women". <sup>13</sup>
  - c. Inter-institutional Action Plan on Promotion of Non-discrimination refers to Committee's observations regarding the lack of data on the situation of disadvantaged women and the instances of multiple discrimination, <sup>14</sup> but fails to introduce any corresponding measures and any special measures tackling multiple discrimination.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To introduce Women's rights course into the Law programmes curriculum in state funded universities.
- To supplement the Law on the Equal Treatment Between Men and Women and the Law on Equal Opportunities by explicitly including a definition of multiple discrimination.
- To build the capacity of the Equal Opportunities Ombudsperson's Office staff to *ex officio* investigate multiple discrimination complaints with a special focus on gender and to issue effective, proportionate and dissuasive sanctions.
- To include theoretical and practical modules on the assessment of evidence and the burden of proof in multiple discrimination cases into the curriculum of judicial training.
- To acknowledge the disadvantage faced by women belonging to *sexual minorities* and *migrants* in the national anti-discrimination policies.
- To provide concrete and effective measures to tackle multiple discrimination with a special focus on gender in the national anti-discrimination policies.

## I. 2. National machinery for the advancement of women rights

- 10. Regardless the constant efforts of the Government to improve the national and local governance in Lithuania with regard to gender advancement, gender mainstreaming is poorly integrated in the policy and decision-making process as well as institutional work culture. Data of the World Economic Forum proves reverse trends of gender equality advancement in Lithuania which dropped down from 14<sup>th</sup> position in 2007 to 28<sup>th</sup> in 2013.<sup>15</sup>
- 11. The recent monitoring report by the Ombudsperson's Office<sup>16</sup> has identified that state institutions do not follow the equal opportunity implementation strategy within their area of competence, do not analyse the possible positive and negative impact of the drafted legal acts, programmes and applied measures to different social groups. The line ministries in Lithuania have no clear understanding of gender equality, mainstreaming or equal opportunities policies. The majority of line ministries do not include gender and equal opportunity principles into their work/action plans; do not carry out gender and equal opportunities situation analysis and assessments of equal opportunities.<sup>17</sup> It is noteworthy that gender and equality mainstreaming is mostly understood as something different from the daily activities of civil servants, alien and not working in Lithuanian environment.
- 12. Regardless Lithuania's statements about the importance of gender equality institutional mechanisms<sup>18</sup>, in 2014 the Ministry of Social Security and Labour initiated discussions upon closing of the National Program of Equal Opportunities for Women and Men (further Program).<sup>19</sup> Women's NGOs and human rights organizations consider these policy developments as a huge step backward deleting gender equality from the national policy agenda and negatively affecting sustainability of the national institutional mechanisms.<sup>20</sup> The last Program approved by the Government of Lithuania for 2010-2014 requires engagement of all the ministries and social partners into implementation of the Program ensuring the synergy of effort at national level. The Ministry of Social Security and Labour suggests developing only the Action Plan which will be integrated into the function of the only one Ministry of Social Security and Labour. This highlights the neglect of the CEDAW recommendation in 2008 to ensure strengthening the gender equality machinery at the national level and instituting sustainable national program for equal opportunities for women and men.<sup>21</sup>

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To undertake the duty to ensure the principle of equality and non-discriminatory provisions in all draft laws, legal acts, programmes and other measures.
- To improve the competence of politicians and civil servants in the line ministries on the importance of gender mainstreaming in the daily work.
- To institute sustainable national programs of equal opportunities for women and men each five years from 2015 and ensure their effective implementation at national level in terms of both human and financial resources.

## **II. ARTICLE 5 (SEX ROLE STEREOTYPING AND PREJUDICE)**

13. In 2008, the CEDAW Committee stated that it "continues to be concerned about the persistence of patriarchal attitudes and deep-rooted stereotypes regarding roles and responsibilities of women and men in the family and in society in Lithuania, which threaten to undermine women's exercise and enjoyment of their human rights and [..] influence women's traditional educational choices".<sup>22</sup>

- 14. The promotion of traditional gender roles and patriarchal family values can be seen in virtually every area in Lithuania. The particular contexts of concern are media, education and violence against women. Prejudice and stereotypes are reinforced continuously both in the press and television. Experts have warned about the TV shows that sometimes feature open sexism, mocking and humiliating women (e.g. very popular show "Radzi is looking for a wife"), however, the TV producers replied the shows are only the reflection of the society, which has a demand for this, and the women have voluntarily agreed to participate. 24
- 15. Regarding violence against women, there is a predominant belief that women provoke violence themselves (by nagging and emotional abuse of partners). As explained further in the report, the Lithuanian approach to violence is completely gender-neutral, which allows the stereotypes and prejudices to continue.<sup>25</sup> The opposition against gender sensitivity and women rights are voiced constantly in the media: in articles about the "failure of genderism" in the West<sup>26</sup>, commentaries on "hidden agenda" behind women rights and anti-violence campaigns.<sup>27</sup> Conferences on "genderism ideology" are hosted at the Lithuanian Parliament<sup>28</sup> and are widely covered by the media.
- 16. With regards to education, girls and women in Lithuania choose social sciences and humanities, rather than physical or technical sciences,<sup>29</sup> although the grades of girls are higher both in mathematics and social sciences.<sup>30</sup> Meanwhile, social sciences and humanities receive the least funding from the state and there is a tendency to reduce the funding of social sciences every year.<sup>31</sup> Thus, the female students, due to their "traditional" choices, end up receiving less funding for their studies, and subsequently less opportunities after graduation. Moreover, besides the horizontal gender segregation, there is a very prominent vertical segregation: women are under-represented in leading positions, political and public life.<sup>32</sup> The only female university Rector in Lithuania was appointed in 2012 she is a Canadian and leads a small private international university in Klaip•da.<sup>33</sup>
- 17. The study on multiple discrimination in high education institutions (2011) revealed the presence of rooted stereotypes and discrimination associated with gender, "i.e. sexism and homophobic attitudes". Another study on multicultural education in secondary schools (2010) revealed that textbooks "sometimes openly present various xenophobic statements and discriminating stereotypes", sexual orientation and disability. Although the Lithuanian Government claims the textbooks have recently been reviewed to ensure they are "impartial as regards sex, age groups, disability, abilities, social status, race, ethnic dependence, religion and beliefs", there is no reference provided. Such information is not known to specialists on education and science either. The "Methodical recommendations on adaptation of textbooks and other training material for competence development" that is presented as the basis for such a review is a general-character document aimed at review of textbooks and other materials.
- 18. Lack of teachers' knowledge and poor preparation about issues of gender equality, gender identities, gendered regimes affect the reproduction of gender stereotypes at school. Recent research about teachers' attitudes towards gender equality, equality and diversity education shows strong stereotypical understanding about women and men. Teachers openly ignore the gender inequality issues and express their fears about its harms on girl and boy's identities which negatively affect girls' "femininity" and boy's "masculinity". They publicly support statements that beautiful girls do not need mathematics or physics, their interests are about fashion and beauty rather than sciences, while boys are much more interested in technological issues.<sup>39</sup>

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To prepare a thorough national strategy for elimination of sex role stereotyping and prejudice which would include:
- o necessary measures to promote changes in the social and cultural patterns of

- behaviour of women and men with a view to eradicating prejudices, customs, traditions and all other practices which are based on the idea of the inferiority of women or on stereotyped roles for women and men;
- o a revision of all educational textbooks and materials to eliminate gender stereotypes;
- o the building professional capacity of teachers in formal curricula and at all levels of education, on issues such as equality between women and men, non-stereotyped gender roles, and the right to personal integrity. The same principles should be imbedded in any informal education facilities, as well as in sports, leisure and the media.

# **III. ARTICLE 6 (PROSTITUTION)**

- 19. According to the United States *Report on Trafficking in Persons*, in 2013 Lithuania has been moved down from Tier 1 to Tier 2. It is said that 'law enforcement action decreased from the previous reporting period, and new investigations, prosecutions, and convictions of traffickers all declined'. The report warns about the police treating under-age victims as criminals and notes that despite the funding provided the government 'did not implement parts of its 2009–2012 *Program for the Prevention and Control of Trafficking in Human Beings* due to budget constraints'. The need to provide compulsory (rather than optional) training of law enforcement officers, prosecutors, and judges on anti-trafficking principles, including the integration of an anti-trafficking module into the basic training of the police has been stressed. In the provided computer of the p
- 20. On 20 November 2013 the NGO Human Rights Monitoring Institute addressed the Commission on the Ethics and Discipline of Judges questioning the public comments of the a judge of Šiauliai Regional Court. The judge rudely commented to the media about under-age victims of prostitution (14 and 15 year olds) noting their "indecent appearance" and indicating that the victims clearly must have consented to the pimping scheme. The Commission on the Ethics and Discipline of Judges did not find that the remarks in question were unethical and dismissed the request to start a disciplinary procedure. According to the Human Rights Monitoring Institute, NGOs working in the field of human trafficking claim that human traffickers often receive mild sentences or get away without any real sentences, thus 'it is doubtful whether pre-trial institutions and courts are capable of adequately understanding and evaluating the nature of this crime'. 43

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To provide compulsory (rather than optional) training of law enforcement officers, prosecutors, and judges on anti-trafficking principles, including the integration of an anti-trafficking module into the basic training of the police.

# IV. ARTICLE 7 (POLITICAL AND PUBLIC LIFE)

- 21. **Participation in political life.** Gender statistics in Lithuania show that women are underrepresented in decision-making positions/structures. In 2012 elections, 33 women (24%) and 107 men (76%) were elected to the Parliament of the Republic of Lithuania<sup>44</sup>. Only four out of 15 parliamentary committees (26.7%) and two out of 11 parliamentary commissions (18.2%) are chaired by women. In the Government of Lithuania only one minister out of 14 is the woman (7%). In 2011 municipal elections, 345 women (22%) and 1,184 men were elected to the municipal councils. Women make up only 10% mayors (6 out of 60).<sup>45</sup>
- 22. **Participation in public life.** In 2008, the CEDAW Committee encouraged Lithuania to systematically adopt laws on temporary special measures, including goals and timetables or quotas. <sup>46</sup> However, no such laws have been adopted to this date, and the Law on Equal Opportunities for Women and Men has not been amended to simplify the procedure of applying temporary special measures in practice, as recommended. On the contrary,

Lithuania is one of the opposing member states to the Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on improving the gender balance among non-executive directors of companies listed on stock exchanges and related measures.<sup>47</sup> Meanwhile, the applied research study presented in 2013 has showed that "Lithuania has every opportunity to achieve the goals set in the Directive by 2020".<sup>48</sup>

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To amend the Law on Equal Opportunities for Women and Men and/or adopt necessary legislation providing for temporary special measures, including quotas to ensure gender balance in political and public life.

# **V. ARTICLE 11 (EMPLOYMENT)**

- 23. **Gender-imbalance regarding child-care leave.** Statistics demonstrate that the allocation of child-care leave between women and men remains very uneven. It comprises of respectively 88,7 and 11,3%. Women's NGOs stated that the Government does not encourage more men to participate proportionately in raising children and take paternity leave more often. There is a lack of information that men can also take some time off for taking care of the children. Resent research also proves that aspects of balancing family and work are highly underdeveloped. Women are forced to take longer maternity leave due to difficult availability of kindergartens. Working hours of the kindergartens are very inconvenient for working parents. Si
- 24. **Access to pre-school facilities**. Lithuania is far below the EU average in levels of participation on pre-school education. For 4-6 year olds, Lithuania takes 23rd place, with only 78.3% participation (EU27 average is 92.4%). However, if the general participation were to increase, lack of access to pre-school institutions in the country would reach 20-30%. There is a big problem with access to pre-school facilities in the largest cities of Lithuania (650 places for 1000 children). 70.3% of children in cities were going to pre-school institutions in 2010, whereas in rural areas only 22,7% of children attend. The access differs depending on the area: e.g. in Alytus district only 16.2% of children under 6 years attend whereas in Palanga city the proportion stands at 79.5%. There are also issues with minority languages. Currently there are only 3 pre-school institutions that teach in non-state language. Notably, the pupils who learn in non-state language are mostly from traditional national minorities: 4 % of pupils learn in Russian, 3,3 % in Polish, and other languages-less than 1 %. 

  \*\*Supplementation\*\*

  \*\*Supplementation\*\*

  \*\*Proprocedure\*\*

  \*\*There are also issues with minority languages. Currently there are only 3 pre-school institutions that teach in non-state language. Notably, the pupils who learn in non-state language are mostly from traditional national minorities: 4 % of pupils learn in Russian, 3,3 % in Polish, and other languages-less than 1 %. 

  \*\*There are also issues with minority languages. Currently there are only 3 pre-school institutions that teach in non-state language are mostly from traditional national minorities: 4 % of pupils learn in Russian, 3,3 % in Polish, and other languages-less than 1 %. 

  \*\*There are also issues with minority languages. Polish, and other languages less than 1 %. 

  \*\*There are also issues with minority languages. Polish, and other languages less than 1 %. 

  \*\*There are also issues with minority languages. Polish, and other languages less than 1 %. 

  \*\*There ar
- 25. The tendencies of gender imbalance in care work are reinforced by political actors in the language of legal acts and policy making. There is a very weak connection between family policy making and gender equality, i.e. family policy is based on the traditional patriarchal model rather than gender equality paradigm in Lithuania.<sup>55</sup>
- 26. **Discrimination in access to labor market.** However, if a woman has not been working for at least a year, she does not have a right to social insurance benefits. The 2008-2010 economic crisis highly affected women by reducing funding for social programs, increasing insecurity regarding their jobs and psychological stress. Women's NGOs have highlighted that young women are discriminated against when looking for a job<sup>56</sup>, because most employers does not want to "risk" and hire a female employee who is going to have kids. Academic research indicates that employers still consider women as primary caregivers and the ones responsible for family issues; therefore, they often prefer to recruit men<sup>58</sup>.
- 27. **Work and family imbalance.** In rural areas it is a very common situation that work shifts and flexible working hours are hardly applied by employers. The single mothers in rural areas find extremely difficult to maintain job and continue care duties to their children and elderly parents. Usually single mothers are forced to quit their jobs. <sup>59</sup> Once a mother after long years of unemployment gets back to the labour market, most of the benefits for the family are taken away, e.g. they have to start paying for social services such as

kindergarten and other that used to be free for unemployed parents. This strongly discourages women from returning back to labour market, because usually they return to low paid, unskilled jobs which hardly help them to overcome poverty. <sup>60</sup>

- 28. **Pay gap and labour segregation.** A formal rule of equal pay for equal work exists in the laws. However, national statistics show that vertical and horizontal gender segregation in the labour market prevails and women employees in 2012 continued to earn up to 14% less than men employees. The largest pay gap accounted for 16.3% in 2010 was among young employees (the age group 25-34) and the lowest 10.4% among 65 years and older.
- 29. **Age plus gender discrimination in retirement**. The above described situation has its further negative implications on women. In 2010, the average retirement pension received by women was one-sixth lower than that received by men. The at-risk-of-poverty rate of men and women of retirement age differed significantly and made up 13% and 31% respectively in 2009. A significant share of women of retirement age lived alone. Statistics show that single persons carry a higher risk of poverty than couples. Though men more frequently than women experienced negative consequences of economic crisis 2009-2012, the structural reasons for women's discrimination in labour market have not been removed.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To amend the legal acts on child-care leave providing for a mandatory proportional share of child-care leave between a mother and father.
- To initiate public campaigns on raising awareness about a father's possibilities to take parental leave and encouraging dual breadwinner family model in society where both a mother and father undertake duties and rights in regard to the child care.
- To guarantee accessibility and quality of services for care of children and other family members in order to improve infrastructure for women, particularly rural women, and to reconcile family and work.

# **VI. ARTICLE 12 (HEALTH)**

## VI. 1. Access to health services, reproductive health

- 30. **Legislative initiatives to restrict access to safe and legal abortions.** In 2008, the CEDAW Committee expressed the concern regarding the pending abortion ban bill. Although that bill did not pass, in 2013 a new draft law on restricting abortions was registered. It passed the initial consideration phase at the Parliament, has been further approved by the parliamentary Committee on Health. Currently, the draft law in pending before the Committee on Legal Affairs and the Human Rights Committee. The Confederation of Bishops lobbies strongly to allow the doctors refusing abortion on the basis of consciousness, and even to allow medical students refusing knowledge/skills how to do an abortion. The Government has approved this suggestion in 2009 but so far no amendments followed.
- 31. **Absence of reproductive health laws**. To this date, Lithuania has not adopted any laws on reproductive health nor artificial insemination. Lithuania does not compensate artificial insemination even partially and under any conditions. A few draft laws on reproductive health (2002<sup>68</sup>, 2013, <sup>69</sup> 2014<sup>70</sup>), artificial insemination (2002, <sup>71</sup> 2003, <sup>72</sup> 2004, <sup>73</sup> 2010, <sup>74</sup> 2011, <sup>75</sup>) were proposed but none of them passed the initial stage yet.
- 32. In 2013, it was suggested to criminalise the "trafficking of human organs and data regarding artificial insemination, including germ cells and embryos". According to the proposed amendments, criminal liability

was to apply to health specialists, and also to private persons who sold or acquired this data. However, the government decided not to agree with this draft amendment, because the provisions criminalised the very fact of unregulated artificial insemination, rather than illegal activities.<sup>77</sup>

33. **Inaccessibility of contraception.** The access to modern contraception is one of the lowest in Europe. The data of *Barometer on Women's Access to Modern Contraceptive Choice* revealed that Lithuania has the lowest rates of access out of the 10 participating states (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Lithuania, The Netherlands, Poland, Spain and Sweden). For young people it is difficult to get an access to professional consultation on contraception and information on sexual life without a parent knowing about it. If parents are not involved in children's sexual education, youth is forced to seek information online which is often scarce and unreliable. Therefore not all women are aware of proper use of contraception.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To ensure that all women have access to safe and legal abortion.
- To adopt comprehensive legislation on reproductive health and artificial insemination in accordance with international reproductive health and justice standards.
- To ensure accessibility of modern contraception to women and young girls;
- To ensure youth-friendly services in the area of reproductive health.

## VI. 2. Access to information about reproductive health, sex education

- 34. In 2008, the CEDAW Committee has Lithuania, as a matter of priority, to provide sexuality education systematically in schools. <sup>80</sup> It called the state "to speedily complete a revision of all educational textbooks and materials to eliminate gender stereotypes". Unfortunately, nothing was done to this regard. On the contrary, rather recent teacher's materials encourage gender stereotyping and provide twisted information on sexuality and family planning.
- 35. Since 2007, the program on "preparing for family and sexual education" in Lithuania is integrated into secondary school lessons. However, the result of this program might be actually deprivation of up-to-date education. This program is supplemented by methodical guidelines which promote "chastity as the basis for sexuality". Other relevant materials stress that "insufficiencies in gender identity result in homosexual tendencies", relate homosexuality to AIDS and early death, and stress that it can be repaired. Regarding contraception, these materials warn that hormonal contraception can be very harmful for women's health (cancer, infertility, increased blood pressure, etc.). All measures of contraception are said to be dangerous either physically or psychologically. These materials are distributed by the Ministry of Education and Science and institutions under it. Teachers have very precise lessons' plans how to talk about chastity, "repair" of wrongful sexuality, "different nature" of men and women, and their preparation for marriage.
- 36. Opposition against any sexual education is constantly stirred in Lithuania: e.g. in the end of 2013, the Lithuanian Parliament adopted a resolution where it urged the European Parliament "to reject the draft European Parliament Resolution on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights proposed by Member of the European Parliament Edite Estrela and to recognise its provisions as detrimental to the European tradition, law and moral". <sup>83</sup> It was widely reported in the media and by many society actors (including members of the Parliament) that the Estrela resolution will legalize paedophilia, <sup>84</sup> and force teachers to teach children under 4 y. to masturbate. <sup>85</sup>

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To systematically ensure unbiased and scientifically accurate sex education in the schools.
- To recall, as a matter of priority, all sexual education materials that are based on prejudice, stereotyping and disinformation.

# **VII. ARTICLE 16 (MARRIAGE AND FAMILY LIFE)**

- 37. On 28 September 2011, the Constitutional Court of the Republic of issued a decision on the compliance of the *Conceptual Framework for National Family Policy*<sup>86</sup> with the Constitution of the Republic of Lithuania. Notably, the CEDAW Committee in 2008 expressed its concern that the Conceptual Framework relied on a restricted concept of family.<sup>87</sup>
- 38. The Constitutional Court of Lithuania ruled that by defining the concept of a family as heterosexual married couple, the Conceptual Framework in fact contradicted provisions of the Constitution. However, the Constitutional Court faced much criticism and currently an amendment of the Constitution is registered. This amendment would bring back the idea of the Conceptual Framework that "family" can only be based on marriage and parenthood, however, this time it would have a much higher status than framework policy document.
- 39. Notably, the Lithuanian laws do not provide any legal protection for women in same-sex partnerships. Although it has been reported that at least 20 percent of lesbian or bisexual women in Lithuania are raising children<sup>90</sup>, the non-biological mother is not allowed to adopt their partner's child under no circumstances. Moreover, there are amendments registered which would ensure adoption is denied on the basis of sexual orientation.<sup>91</sup>
- 40. Various amendments have been presented with the view of bringing the women back to home and keeping the traditional gender roles. E.g., an amendment that entrenches the "child's fundamental right to a mother and a father" was proposed as one of the fundamental principles of family law.<sup>92</sup> If adopted, the amendment could have unpredictable results and gravely interfere with women's exercise and enjoyment of their human rights in marriage and family relations. Theoretically, this could open the door for restrictions of divorce, discrimination of women in various forms of families, and also forced silence, because any discussion about the family would be prevented with the threat of fines. At the moment, the aforementioned amendment has been set aside.<sup>93</sup> Nevertheless, there is a clear tendency for proposing legislation for the protection of the "traditional family."
- 41. The amendment that provides for administrative fines for "contempt to the family" (by talks, displayed things, posters, slogans and etc.) is in consideration at the Parliament. Although this amendment is not passed yet, even under the present legislation, a brief display of a person wearing a t-shirt with words "For Family Diversity" has been seen as "detrimental to minors", s and a book of a Lithuanian author which featured (among other tales) a love story of two princesses, has been banned from the bookstores. If the amendment is passed, administrative fines could potentially be applied in afore-mentioned situations, as well as in case of lesbian mothers simply for speaking about their existence in Lithuanian society. It is not clear who else could be fined for the contempt of the family, however, the source of inspiration for such amendments have been identified as the Russian legislation.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To abstain from restrictive legislative amendments which may have a negative impact on women's exercise and enjoyment of their human rights in marriage and family relations;
- To adopt legislation that ensures every woman's right to family life.

# VII. COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS NOS 12 AND 19 (VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN)

### VII. 1. Violence against women, domestic violence

- 42. The Law on Protection against Domestic Violence (the Law) has entered into force on 15 December 2011 and brought some major changes in the area of combating domestic violence.<sup>100</sup> The strong lobby from women rights NGOs has achieved that the Law now defines domestic violence as an act of violation of human rights and freedom, which, due to damage caused to society, is now attributable to acts of public significance.
- 43. The Law considerably strengthened the legal protection of domestic violence victims by placing the burden of ending violence on the authorities and equipping the law enforcement authorities with legal tools to respond to the crime. <sup>101</sup> In a month after the Law on Protection against Domestic Violence came into force, the police received 3483 notices on alleged incidents of domestic violence and launched 1149 pre-trial investigations. Since 2011, the number of reported domestic violence incidents has been growing annually. <sup>102</sup>
- 44. Nevertheless, the first years of implementation of the Law revealed a number of issues related to both legal loopholes in the Law and implementing legislation and specifically to the poor practice of the application of the Law.
- 45. **Gender-neutrality of the Law.** The Law on Protection against Domestic Violence is gender-neutral and does not address the domestic violence in a gender-sensitive way. However, the absolute majority of domestic violence victims in Lithuania are women. The data provided by the Police Department confirms that the vast majority of domestic violence victims in Lithuania are women. In 2013, out of all persons granted the victim status in the domestic violence cases 81,7% were women, 11,1% were men and 7,2% were children (in 2012: 82,7% were women, 9,2% were men and 8,1% were children). The failure to legally recognize gender dimension of the law runs contrary to the concept of domestic violence as gender-based discrimination under the CEDAW<sup>103</sup> and, consequently, is not reflected in the national-level policies aiming to provide assistance for the victims in need. The last action plan (2009–2012) of the Strategy for combating violence against women (further—the Strategy) expired in the end of 2012. Though the UN Handbook for Legislation on Violence against Women indicates that the legislation on domestic violence does not have to be gender specific; however, it is recommended that the legislation would "be gender-sensitive, not gender-blind". At the moment, the Lithuanian legislation is completely gender-blind and without any measures aimed at gender stereotyping to prevent violence.
- 46. **Concerns related to the execution of protective orders.** The practice has proved that two protection measures envisioned by the Law do not effectively safeguard the victims. The effective monitoring mechanism which would allow tracking the perpetrator's location and determining whether he has approached the victim or the victim's premises is non-existent. The media has featured a number of stories when a victim of domestic violence has been repeatedly attacked after the protection order has been issued. 105
- 47. **Insufficient financial support for victim help centers and NGOs.** The Government does not provide clear systematic financial support for specialized support services for victims of domestic violence. Due to the lack of funds, it is very difficult for NGO's to attract professionals to work for them. <sup>106</sup> Therefore it is not possible

for example to escort women to the police and to provide counselling in order to support her to hold on her testimony. When women come alone to the police office they are often threatened and secondary victimised since they have to face and testify in front of the perpetrator and persuaded to reconcile. In 2014 European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) publicised the results of European survey on violence against women and showed that in Lithuania only 1 percent of victims search for help in social services and 2 percent in crises centres, 24 percent in police. The reasons for not applying to the institutions are the mistrust in institutions (21 percent, the average in the EU – 9 percent), shame (25 percent in Lt – average in the ES – 12 percent) and unwillingness to make their case of violence public (22 percent in LT, the average in the EU – 12 percent).

- 48. Prevention is not taken seriously, can be seen by the sporadic financing of such activities. 28 NGOs received funding aimed at "decreasing violence against women" in 2013, 110 with the view of providing prevention and continuing support services. The sums allocated range from LTL 3,600 (EUR 1,042) to LTL 42,500 (EUR 12,308). The results came in the middle of October and the funds arrived in November, which actually left just two months for project implementation. 111
- 49. Excessive application of reconciliation procedure. Another issue that remains unaddressed is a reconciliation procedure that is still widely used in domestic violence cases during both, pre-trial investigation and trial stage, without taking into account the specific nature of the domestic violence crime and its repetitive pattern, and without a detailed assessment of the possible risk and danger to the victim. In many cases when the perpetrator of violence and the victim reconcile and the case must be dismissed. Sometimes the courts oblige the perpetrators to undergo a therapy on anger management, peaceful conflict resolution. NGOs report, however, that the perpetrators of violence rarely finish these programs. 113
- 50. **Inadequate attention to police and judicial trainings.** Women NGOs are critical of the Government's inactivity to organise the broader awareness raising campaign about the Law on Protection against Domestic Violence, specifically focusing on informing about the sanctions and remedies to solve the case of domestic violence. No attention to quantity and quality of police training and sufficient funding for police to implement the Law. <sup>114</sup> For example, some women's NGOs informed that police in small towns does not have enough capacities to ensure safety of the victim of domestic violence, because of the lack of space in the custody. <sup>115</sup>
- 51. Although, as outlined above, the tangible progress towards combating domestic violence by means of the law has been done in Lithuania, the state has not taken all available measures to safeguard the lives and the health of women. In 2013 and 2014 Lithuania has lost two cases before the European Court of Human Rights for failing to protect women against repeated incidents of domestic violence despite their numerous requests to launch pre-trial investigation. In both cases, the Court has found violations of Article 3 of the European Convention of Human Rights protection against torture, inhuman and degrading treatment. According to the results of the FRA research on violence against women, 49% of the respondents in Lithuania know at least one female victim of intimate partner violence within their circle of friends and family (the EU average 39 percent), 66% of the respondents do not know any specific laws or political initiatives in the country for preventing domestic violence against women and 69 percent for protecting women in the cases of domestic violence (the EU average respectively 49 percent and 59 percent). These are one of the highest figures in the European Union.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To acknowledge the gender dimension in domestic violence and reflect it in the national laws, primarily the Law on Protection against Domestic Violence, and national and local-level policies.
- To put in the place the system allowing for efficient monitoring of the execution of protection orders.

- To organize thorough and consistent trainings for law enforcement officers and judges informing about the peculiarities of handling domestic violence cases and the threats of excessive application of the reconciliation procedure.
- To ensure the role of women NGOs as equal partners and secure a consistent financial support of their activities aimed at assisting the victims of domestic violence and promoting the principle of zero tolerance to domestic violence in the society in general.
- To organize the trainings of health workers on all levels in order to help them to recognize when women may be at risk of partner violence and to know how to provide an appropriate response.

#### VII. 2. Sexual violence

- 52. Sexual violence against women, including intimate partner violence, remains an alarming issues which Lithuania has failed to address duly. The European Women's Lobby 's 2013 Barometer on Rape in Europe identified Lithuania as one of six European countries whose legislation is far below the minimum standards as set forth in the Council of Europe Convention (also known as the Istanbul Convention) on combating and preventing violence against women and domestic violence.<sup>118</sup>.
- 53. **No strong condemnation of marital rape.** Women, especially in rural areas, are still blinded by stereotypes of marital "duties" and thus do not recognize marital rape as a violation of their human rights. The complaints by women who experience sexual violence from their husbands are not usually regarded as a serious crime, either in public institutions or within society as a whole. The anonymous survey of 300 women (who are married or have lived with partners) in Vilnius Maternity hospital showed that 80% of respondents did not know the difference between consensual sex in marriage and marital rape; 60% experienced sexual harassment and 30% per cent were forced into having sex with their husbands against their will. The strong consensual sex is marriage.
- 54. Lack of explicit criminalization of marital rape. In Lithuania, sexual violence is outlawed by three articles of the Criminal Code (Rape Article 149, Sexual assault Article 150, Sexual abuse Article 151)<sup>122</sup> the classification of the offence essentially depends on the type of sexual intercourse, use of threat, physical or psychological violence. The marital rape is not specifically included in either of the articles, however general understanding among legal practitioners is that it can fall under either one of them depending on the perpetrator's actions (as listed above).
- 55. **Unavailability of segregated data on sexual violence.** The real extent of marital rape in Lithuania remains unknown as there is no system in place allowing for collection of statistical data segregated by the type of the perpetrator (e.g. a spouse, a partner, a former spouse, a relative, a neighbor, an acquaintance, a stranger).

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS:**

- To undertake wide awareness raising campaign to educate women, especially living in rural areas and otherwise socially excluded, about their right to bodily integrity/autonomy and avenues to obtain help in cases of marital rape.
- To introduce legislative amendments to the Criminal Code explicitly outlawing marital rape.
- To put in place a system of data collection on sexual violence crimes segregated by the type of the perpetrator.

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CEDAW/Shared%20Documents/LTU/INT CEDAW NGO LTU 15168 E.pdf

<sup>4</sup>United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania 8 July 2008, para. 85, available at <a href="https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>

United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), 14 January – 1 February 2008, para. 85, available at <a href="https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>

<sup>5</sup> For the purpose of this report multiple discrimination is used as an umbrella-term which refers to all situations where discrimination occurs on two and more grounds. It covers both instances of compounded (additive) discrimination and intersectional discrimination.

<sup>6</sup> The Office of the Equality Ombudsperson (*Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnyba*), 2012 annual report by the Office of the Equality Ombudsperson (*Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnybos veiklos 2012 ataskaita*), Vilnius, 2013, p. 26, available at <a href="https://www.lygybe.lt/lt/metines-tarnybos-ataskaitos.html">www.lygybe.lt/lt/metines-tarnybos-ataskaitos.html</a>

<sup>7</sup> The Ombudsperson has been critisized for a lack of pro-active action in mapping violations of the equal treatment principle and conducting investigations on its own.

<sup>8</sup> The Office of the Equality Ombudsperson (*Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnyba*), 2009, 2010, 2011,2012 annual reports by the Office of the Equality Ombudsperson (*Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnybos veiklos*, 2009,2010,2011,2012 ataskaitos), available at <a href="http://www.lygybe.lt/lt/metines-tarnybos-ataskaitos.html">http://www.lygybe.lt/lt/metines-tarnybos-ataskaitos.html</a>

<sup>9</sup> Human Rights Monitoring Institute (*Žmogaus teisi*• *steb*• *jimo institutas*), Discrimination based on Gender and Disability Case, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.hrmi.lt/en/our-work/strategic-litigation/">http://www.hrmi.lt/en/our-work/strategic-litigation/</a>

<sup>10</sup>Government (*LR Vyriausyb*•),(2012), Lithuania, *Resolution on national social intergration of disabled people in 2013-2019 ( Nutarimas d*•*l nacionalin*•*s ne*•*gali*•*j*• *socialin*•*s integracijos 2013-2019 met*• *programos patvirtinimo)*, No. 1408, 21 November, 2012, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=437985&p\_query=&p\_tr2=2">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=437985&p\_query=&p\_tr2=2</a>

<sup>11</sup>Government (*LR Vyriausyb*•),(2012), Lithuania, *Resolution on national social intergration of disabled people in 2013-2019* (*Nutarimas d•l nacionalin•s ne•gali•j• socialin•s integracijos 2013-2019 met• programos patvirtinimo*), No. 1408, 21 November, 2012, para. 122, available at http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc 1?p id=437985&p query=&p tr2=2

<sup>12</sup>Goverment (*LR Vyriausyb*•) (2010), Lithuania, Ministry of Social Security and Labor of the Republic of Lithuania (*Lietuvos Respublikos ocialin*•s apsaugos ir darbo ministerija), Commandment of national equal opportunities for women and men program in 2010- 2014 implementation approval (\*sakymas d•l valstybin•s moter• ir vyr• lygi• galimybi• 2010-2014 met• programos \*gyvendinimo priemoni• plano patvirtinimo), No. A1-323, 7 July, 2010, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc 1?p-id=378165">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc 1?p-id=378165</a>

<sup>13</sup>United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), 14 January – 1 February 2008, para. 85, available at <a href="www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>; the *National Program of Equal Opportunities between Men and Women 2009-2014* is also discussed in para. 11 of this report.

<sup>14</sup>Government (*LR Vyriausyb*•),(2011), Lithuania, Resolution on non- discrimination promotion of inter-institutional activity plan approval (*Nutarimas d•l nediskriminavimo skatinimo tarpinstitucinio veiklos plano patvirtinimo*), No. 1281, 2 November, 2011, para. 6, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc-1?p-id=435136">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc-1?p-id=435136</a>

<sup>15</sup> World Economic Forum (2013), The Global Gender Gap, 2013, p. 8, available at www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF GenderGap Report 2013.pdf

<sup>16</sup> Office of the Equality Ombudperson, (*Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnyba*), 2011, Equality mainstreaming: theoretical and practical aspects, (*Lygi• galimybi• integravimas: teoriniai ir praktiniai aspektai*), Vilnius <sup>17</sup> Ibid.

<sup>18</sup>UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (UN CEDAW) (2014). List of issues and questions in relation to the fifth periodic report of Lithuania. Addendum. Replies of Lithuania. 16 January 2014 CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5?Add.1 <a href="http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5/Add.1">http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5/Add.1</a>

<sup>19</sup> Lithuania, Ministry of Social Security and Labour (Socialin•s apsaugos ir darbo ministerija) (2014). Press release. Moter• ir vyr• lygi• galimybi• komisijos pos•dyje aptarti aktual•s klausimai, 24 April, 2014 availbale at http://www.socmin.lt/lt/naujienos/pranesimai-spaudai/moteru-ir-vyru-9ddr.html

<sup>20</sup> Center for Equality Advancement (*Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras*) (2014), *Kreipimasis d•l valstybin•s moter• ir vyr• programos panaikinimo* (Appeal on elimination of national program on equal opportunities for women and men), 6 May 2014

<sup>21</sup> United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania 8 July 2008, p. 4-5, available at www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf

<sup>22</sup> Ibid. Para. 14.

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), *Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania* 8 July 2008, para. 65, available at <a href="https://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (2013), Critical Issues as regards the implementation of the UN CEDAW Convention in Lithuania, Vilnius, available at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania 8 July 2008, para. 84, available at www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf

- <sup>23</sup> Saukien• I. (2012), Ekspertai: laidoje "Radžis ieško žmonos" paty•ios iš mergin• peržengia visas ribas [The experts: the girls' mockery on the show "Radžis looks for a wife" is beyond all limits], Delfi.lt, 9 November 2012. <a href="http://www.delfi.lt/verslas/media/ekspertai-laidoje-radzis-iesko-zmonos-patycios-is-merginu-perzengia-visas-ribas.d?id=59950035">http://www.delfi.lt/verslas/media/ekspertai-laidoje-radzis-iesko-zmonos-patycios-is-merginu-perzengia-visas-ribas.d?id=59950035</a>
- <sup>25</sup> For more information see section *VII.1*. *Violence against women, domestic violence* of this report.
- <sup>26</sup> Juknevi•i•t• R. (2012), Demaskuotas ly•i• lygyb•s pseudomokslas [Gender pseudo-science unmasked], Respublika.lt, 14 September 2012. <a href="http://www.respublika.lt/lt/naujienos/lietuva/kitos">http://www.respublika.lt/lt/naujienos/lietuva/kitos</a> lietuvos zinios/demaskuotas lyciu lygybes pseudomokslas/. <sup>27</sup> Sinica V. (2013), V.Sinica. "Pasaul• nauj• pastatysim…" kas slepiasi už moters ir vaiko? [V. Sinica. "We will build a new

world..." – what is hidden behind a woman and a child", *Alkas.lt*, 20 May 2014. http://alkas.lt/2013/04/20/v-sinica-pasauli-nauja-pastatysim-kas-slepiasi-uz-moters-ir-vaiko/.

- pastatysim-kas-slepiasi-uz-moters-ir-vaiko/. 
  <sup>28</sup> Lrs.lt (2014). Seime vyks konferencija "Naujieji stabai: genderizmas ir seksualin• revoliucija" (The conference "New idols: genderism and sexual revolution" will take place in Seimas), *Lrs.lt*, 8 May 2014, 
  http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter/w5\_show?p\_r=2443&p\_d=147462&p\_k=1.
- <sup>29</sup> Gudynas, P., Bingelien•, D., Dargyt•, J. and Ugin•ien•, E. (2009) Ar Lietuvoje užtikrinamos lygios privalomojo švietimo galimyb•s berniukams ir mergait•ms? [Are equal opportunities for boys and girls ensured in Lithuanian mandatory education system?] *Švietimo problemos analiz*•, No. 6 (34). Vilnius: Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Lithuania, <a href="http://www.upc.smm.lt/suzinokime/tyrimai/failai/Lygios gal Merg.Bern..pdf">http://www.upc.smm.lt/suzinokime/tyrimai/failai/Lygios gal Merg.Bern..pdf</a>.
- Žalimien•, L., Lazutka, R., Sku•ien•, D., Aidukait•, J., Kazakevi•i•t• J., Navick• J., Ivaškait•-Tamoši•n• V. (2011) Socialinis teisingumas švietime: teorin• samprata ir praktinis vertinimas. Mokslo studija [Social justice in education: theory and practical assessment]. Švietimo ir mokslo ministerija, Švietimo apr• pinimo centras, Lietuvos socialini• tyrim• centras. Vilnius: Švietimo apr• pinimo centras, <a href="http://www.sac.smm.lt/images/file/knyga%20Socialinis%20teisingumas.pdf">http://www.sac.smm.lt/images/file/knyga%20Socialinis%20teisingumas.pdf</a>.
- <sup>31</sup> Verslo žinios (Business news), (2014), Mažins socialini• moksl• finansavim•, [Funding for social sciences will be reduced]. 4 February 2014 <a href="http://vz.lt/?PublicationId=790d9d25-f0d2-4c13-a77d-e02a71cc018b">http://vz.lt/?PublicationId=790d9d25-f0d2-4c13-a77d-e02a71cc018b</a>
- <sup>32</sup> For more informartion see section *IV. Political and public life* of this report.
- <sup>33</sup> Lukoši•t• S. (2012), Pirmoji universiteto rektor•: Lietuva labai pasikeit• [The first woman rector in the university: Lithuania has changed very much], *Klaip•dos diena*, 24 Novermber, 2014. <a href="http://klaipeda.diena.lt/naujienos/nuomones/nuomones/pirmoji-universiteto-rektore-lietuva-labai-pasikeite-568594#.U2dzcvl\_uws">http://klaipeda.diena.lt/naujienos/nuomones/nuomones/pirmoji-universiteto-rektore-lietuva-labai-pasikeite-568594#.U2dzcvl\_uws</a>
- <sup>34</sup>Jankauskait•, M., Aleksej•n•, V., Pilinkait•- Sotirovi•, V., Valentinavi•ius V. (2011) •*vairialyp• diskriminacija aukštojo mokslo institucijose* [Multiple discrimination in high education institutions]. Vilnius: Lietuvos student s•junga.
- <sup>35</sup>Reingard•, J., Vasiliauskait•, N., Erentait•, R. (2010) *Tolerancija ir multikult• rinis ugdymas bendrojo lavinimo mokyklose* [Tolerance and multi-cultural training in general education schools]. Tolerantiško jaunimo asociacija ir Lygi• galimybi• kontrolieriaus tarnyba, Vilnius, Kaunas.
- <sup>36</sup> CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5/Add.1. Response to List of issues in relation to the fifth periodic reports of Lithuania of 16 January 2014. Paragrapgh 39.
- <sup>37</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>38</sup> Birgelyt• A. at al. (2012) Vadov•li• ir kitos mokymosi medžiagos pritaikymo kompetencijoms ugdyti metodin•s rekomendacijos.
  Availbale at
- http://mokomes5-8.ugdome.lt/images/Nauji\_dokumentai/Metodika/vadoveliu\_pritaikymo\_metodines.pdf
- <sup>39</sup> Novelskaite A., Stonkuviene I. (2011), "Mokytoj• ir mokini• poži• ris moter• ir vyr• veiklos ir karjeros galimybes fizini• ir technologijos moksl• srityje "[Attitudes of teachers and students about opportunities and career for women and meni n natual and technological sciences] in Novelskait•, Purvanieckiene (eds) *Moteris fiziniuose ir techniniuose moksluose: mokin•*, *student•*, *mokslinink•*, vilnius: VU leidykla p. 91-106.
- Reingard• J., N. Vasiliauskait•, R. Erentait• (2010). *Tolerancija ir multikult• rinis ugdymas bendrojo lavinimo mokyklose*. Vilnius, Kaunas.
- <sup>40</sup> US Department of State (2013) Trafficking in persons report 2013, Washington, DC, available at: <a href="https://www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/2013">www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/2013</a>
- <sup>41</sup>US Department of State (2013) Trafficking in persons report 2013, Washington, DC, available at: www.state.gov/j/tip/rls/tiprpt/2013.
- <sup>42</sup> Sinkevi•ius D. (2014), Paaišk•jo, kad apie sekso aukas kalb•jusi teis•ja "nieko negražiais žodžiais neišvadino (It appeared that the judge commenting on the sex victims "did not call anyone names"), Delfi.lt, 11 February 2014. http://www.delfi.lt/news/daily/law/paaiskejo-kad-apie-sekso-aukas-kalbejusi-teiseja-nieko-negraziais-zodziais-neisvadino.d?id=63992332
- <sup>43</sup>Lithuania, Human rights monitoring institute (*Žmogaus teisi\* steb\*jimo institutas*) (2013), "Lithuanian courts promote trafficking in persons?" ('*Lietuvos teismai skatina prekyba žmon\*mis?*'),Press release, 10 November 2013, available at: <a href="www.hrmi.lt/naujiena/898/">www.hrmi.lt/naujiena/898/</a>.
- <sup>44</sup> The Central Electoral Commission of the Republic of Lithuanian (*Lietuvos Respublikos vyriausioji rinkim• komisija*), Candidates by sex, age and nationality, (2012 m. Lietuvos Respublikos rinkimuose išrinkt• kandidat• pasiskirstymas pagal lyt•, amži• ir tautyb•), 2012, available at: www.vrk.lt/lt/2012 seimo rinkimai/statistika.html
- <sup>45</sup> Lithuania, Ministry of Social Security and Labour (*Socialin•s apsaugos ir darbo ministerija*) (2012), Statistics of equality of women and men ('Moter• ir vyr• lygyb•s statistika'), available at: www.socmin.lt/index.php?2044783319.
- <sup>46</sup> United Nations (UN) (2008), CEDAW Concluding Remarks CEDAW/C/LTU/CO/4, 14 January 1 February 2008, para. 81, available at <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>
- <sup>47</sup>Council of the European Union, Report, Brussels, 22 November 2013, available at:

http://register.consilium.europa.eu/doc/srv?l=EN&t=PDF&gc=true&sc=false&f=ST%2016437%202013%20INIT

Baltic Legal Solution Lietuva (2013), Pasi•lymo d•l Europos Parlamento ir Tarybos direktyvos d•l biržini• bendrovi• nevykdom•j• direktori• pareigas einan•i• asmen• ly•i• pusiausvyros gerinimo ir atitinkam• priemoni• si•lomos reguliavimo srities esamos pad•ties analiz• ir poveikio vertinimas [Proposal for European Parliament and Council directive on non-executive directors gender balance improvement and appropriate measures for regulatory field analysis and the assessment of its impact]), 2013, available at:

www.socmin.lt/lt/tyrimai.html?backlink=%252Flt%252Fpaieska%252Fresults%252Fp0.html

- <sup>49</sup>Lithuania, State Social Insurance Fund Board (*Valstybin Socialinio Draudimo Fondo Valdyba*), (2013) Statistics on Receivers of Benefits on Sickness and Moterinty (Ligos ir motinyst•s išmok• atvejai), 2013, availbale at: http://atvira.sodra.lt/
- <sup>50</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women s NGO 19 December, 2013
- <sup>51</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi galimybi pl*•*tros centras*), Communication with women's NGO 19 December, 2013 <sup>52</sup> Vaicekauskien•, V. (2012) Valstybin• švietimo strategija 2013–2022 m.: tikslai, problemos, tobulinimo kryptys. [The national education strategy of 2013-2022: purposes, problems, development directions]. *Švietimo problemos analiz*•, No. 17 (81), Vilnius: Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Lithuania,

http://www.smm.lt/uploads/documents/kiti/201210 Nr 17 Valstybine svietimo%20strategija.pdf

<sup>53</sup> Valantinas, A. (2011) Ikimokyklinio ugdymo finansavimas. Ar ikimokyklinio ugdymo krepšelis pateisins l•kes•ius? [Funding of pre-school education. Will pre-school education voucher fulfil expectations?]. Švietimo problemos analiz•, No. 13 (63), Vilnius: Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Lithuania,

http://www.smm.lt/uploads/documents/kiti/2011%20Nr%2013%20(63)%20Ikimokyklinio%20ugdymo%20finansavimas.pdf

- <sup>54</sup> Vaicekauskien•, V. (2013) Švietimo finansavimas: kiek, kam ir kaip [Funding of education: how much, for whom, and how]. *Švietimo problemos analiz*•, No. 13 (99) Vilnius: Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Lithuania, <a href="http://www.smm.lt/uploads/lawacts/docs/575">http://www.smm.lt/uploads/lawacts/docs/575</a> f96a7a9b2e0b56d654afa3d8889c691f.pdf.
- <sup>55</sup> Bu•ait•-Vilk• J. At al (2012) *Ly•i• politika ir gimstamumo ateitis* [Gender policies and the future of fertility], Kaunas: VDU, 2012, p. 37-54; Maslauskait• A. (2013)" Motinyste ir darbas" [Motherhood and work], *Demografija ir Mes*, 2013 (10): 10-11.

  <sup>56</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras*), Communication with women's NGO, 19 December 2013.
- <sup>50</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi galimybi pl*•*tros centras*), Communication with women s NGO, 19 December 2015. Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi galimybi pl*•*tros centras*), Communication with women s NGO, 29 October 2013.
- <sup>58</sup> Šidlauskien•, V. (2010), "K• atskleidžia moter• ir vyr• lygyb•s •mon•je vertinimas? Kaip priimti ly•i• lygyb•s išš•kius darboviet•je?" [What does assessment of gender equality in the enterprises show? How to accept challenges of gender equality at the workplace?] *Ly•i• studijos ir tyrimai*, 8(8):32-49.
- <sup>59</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi galimybi pl*•*tros centras*), Communication with women 's NGO, 29 October 2013, 19 December 2013.
- <sup>60</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO, 19 December 2013.
- <sup>61</sup> Lithuanian Department of Statistics (2012), (*Lietuvos statistikos departamentas*), Available from: www.stat.gov.lt/lt/pages/view/?id=1304&PHPSESSID=d36e8c4e520910b27db0e7176ea7804f http://osp.stat.gov.lt/temines-lenteles19
- <sup>62</sup> Department of Statistics (*Lietuvos statistikos departamentas*), Lithuania, available from: http://www.stat.gov.lt/lt/news/view/?id=10171
- <sup>63</sup> Department of Statistics (*Lietuvos statistikos departamentas*), Lithuania, Women and Men in Lithuania 2010 (*Moterys ir vyrai Lietuvoje 2010*), 2011, available from: <a href="www.stat.gov.lt/lt/catalog/list/?cat\_y=2&cat\_id=3">www.stat.gov.lt/lt/catalog/list/?cat\_y=2&cat\_id=3</a>
- <sup>64</sup>European Parliament (2012), Gender aspects of the effects of the economic downturn and financial crisis on welfare systems, 2012, available at: <a href="www.europarl.europa.eu/committees/en/femm/studiesdownload.html?languageDocument=EN&file=90730">www.europarl.europa.eu/committees/en/femm/studiesdownload.html?languageDocument=EN&file=90730</a>
  <sup>65</sup>Ibid, para 80.
- <sup>66</sup>Lithuania, Seimas, 2013, Protection of life in prenatal phase law project, (*Lietuvos Respublikos Gyvyb•s prenatalin•je faz•je apsaugos •statymo projektas*), 2013, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc</a> 1?p id=444122&p tr2=2
- <sup>67</sup> Žiugždait• S. (2010), "Doctor have a right not to what is contrary to his beliefs" ("Gydytojas turi teis• nedaryti to, kas prieštarauja jo •sitikinimams") Bernardinai, 19 May, 2010, available at: <a href="http://www.bernardinai.lt/straipsnis/2010-04-19-kun-andrius-narbekovas-gydytojas-turi-teise-nedaryti-to-kas-priestarauja-jo-isitikinimams/43636">http://www.bernardinai.lt/straipsnis/2010-04-19-kun-andrius-narbekovas-gydytojas-turi-teise-nedaryti-to-kas-priestarauja-jo-isitikinimams/43636</a>
- gydytojas-turi-teise-nedaryti-to-kas-priestarauja-jo-isitikinimams/43636

  68 Lithuania, Seimas (2002), The draft of the law on reproductive health (*Reprodukcin•s sveikatos •statymo projektas*), No. IXP- 1775, 5 July 2002, available at www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_l?p\_id=170862&p\_tr2=2.
- <sup>69</sup> Bernardinai.lt (2013), "A.M. Pavilionien• v•l teikia Seimui reprodukcin•s sveikatos •statymo projekt•", 26 September 2013, www.bernardinai.lt/straipsnis/2013-09-26-a-m-pavilioniene-vel-teikia-seimui-reprodukcines-sveikatos-istatymo-projekta/107757. It was proposed to return to consideration of the legislation on reproductive health; no new drafts were put forward.
- <sup>70</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2014), The draft of the law on reproductive health (*Reprodukcin•s sveikatos •statymo projektas*), No. XIIP-1591, 13 March 2014, available at <a href="https://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=467170&p\_tr2=2">www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=467170&p\_tr2=2</a>.
- <sup>71</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2002), The draft of the law on artificial insemination (*Dirbtinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. IXP- 1966, 11 October 2002, available at <a href="https://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=188316&p\_tr2=2.">www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=188316&p\_tr2=2.</a>
- <sup>72</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2003), The draft of the law on artificial insemination (*Dirbtinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. IXP-1966(2), 12 December 2003, available at <a href="https://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc1?pid=223431&ptr2=2">www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc1?pid=223431&ptr2=2</a>.
- <sup>73</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2004), The draft of the law on artificial insemination (*Dirbtinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. IXP-1966(2)A, 20 January 2004, available at <a href="https://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc1?pid=225476&ptr2=2">www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc1?pid=225476&ptr2=2</a>.
- The Lithuania, Seimas (2010), The draft of the law on assisted reproduction (*Pagalbinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. XIP-2388, 14 September 2010, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=380793&p\_tr2=2">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=380793&p\_tr2=2</a> and Lithuania,

Seimas (2010), The draft of the law on artificial insemination (*Dirbtinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. XIP- 2502, 10 October 2010, available at <a href="http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=382967&p\_tr2=2">http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=382967&p\_tr2=2</a>.

<sup>75</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2011), The draft of the law on assisted reproduction (*Pagalbinio apvaisinimo \*statymo projektas*), No. XIP-2502(3), 16 June 2011, available at http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=401583&p\_tr2=2.

<sup>76</sup> Lithuania, Government of the Republic of Lithuania (*LR Vyriausyb*•) (2013), *Nutarimas d•l LR BK papildymo 143¹*, *143²ir 153¹ straipsniais •statymo projekto* (Rezolution on the amending articles *143¹*, *143²ir 153¹* of Criminal Code ) *No. XIP-3568*, 83 - 4161, 30 July 2013.

<sup>77</sup> Ibid

<sup>78</sup>Planned Parenthood Federation, *Barometer on Women's access to Modern Contraceptive Choice*. June, 2013, available at <a href="http://www.ippfen.org/resources/barometer-womens-access-modern-contraceptive-choice">http://www.ippfen.org/resources/barometer-womens-access-modern-contraceptive-choice</a>

<sup>79</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras*), Communication with women 's NGO, 19 December 2013. <sup>80</sup>United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), *Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania*,14 January – 1 February 2008, para. <sup>81</sup>, available at <a href="www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf">www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf</a>.

<sup>81</sup>Ustilait•, S.et al. (2007), *Vaik• ir jaunimo rengimo šeimai program rengimas. Mokomoji metodin• priemon•* [Drafting of programs for preparing of children and youth for the family. Teaching methodological instrument] 2007, p. 8, available online: <a href="http://www.smm.lt/uploads/documents/svietimas/neformalus%20ugdymas/SPPC.pdf">http://www.smm.lt/uploads/documents/svietimas/neformalus%20ugdymas/SPPC.pdf</a>.

<sup>82</sup>Sinicien•, J. (2012), *Rengimas šeimai: socialin•s kompetencijos ugdymas tikybos ir etiko spamokose*. Rengimo šeimai ir lytiškumo ugdymo metodin• medžiaga [Preparing for the family: training of social competence in classes of faith and ethics. Methodic materials on preparing for family and sexual education], Vilnius, available online:

http://www.upc.smm.lt/ugdymas/vidurinis/rekomendacijos/failai/seima/RENGIMAS %C5%A0EIMAI SOCIALIN%C4%96S KOMPETENCIJOS UGDYMAS TIKYBOS IR ETIKOS PAMOKOSE.pdf

<sup>83</sup>Lithuania, Seimas (2013), Resolution on MEP Edit• Estrela resolution project (*Rezoliucija d•l Europos Parlamento nar•s Edit•s Estrelos pateikto rezoliucijos projekto*), 10 December 2013, available at <a href="https://www.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_l?p\_id=461851">www.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_l?p\_id=461851</a>.

<sup>84</sup> Lithuania, Seimas, (2014), Member of Seimas P. Gražulis notification, (*Seimo nario P. Gražulio pranešimas: "Kreipimasis d•l E. Estrelos rezoliucijos, legalizuojan•ios mažame•i• vaik• tvirkinim•, kuri tre•i• kart skinasi keli• • Europos Parlament• "), 16 January, 2014, available at: www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter/w5\_show?p\_r=618&p\_d=143950&p\_k=1.* 

85 Strikulien• O. (2013), Our MEPs went crazy (*M*• *s*• *europarlamentarai išprot*• *jo*), *Respublika*, 03 December 2013, available at: www.respublika.lt/lt/naujienos/nuomones\_ir\_komentarai/bus\_isklausyta/musu\_europarlamentarai\_isprotejo/

<sup>86</sup>Lithuania, Seimas (2008). Resolution on national family policy concept approval (*Nutarimas d•l valstybin•s šeimos politikos koncepcijos patvirtinimo*) No. X-1569, 3 June 2008.

<sup>87</sup> United Nations (UN), Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women: Lithuania, 14 January – 1 February 2008, para. 78, available at www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cedaw/docs/co/CEDAW-C-LTU-CO-4.pdf.

88Lithuania, Constitutional Court (2011). (Lietuvos Respublikos Konstitucinis Teismas), Resolution on Lithuanian Seimas decree "
National family policy concept approval" compliance with Constitution of the Republic of Lithuania (Nutarimas d•1 Lietuvos Respublikos Seimo 2008 m. birželio 3 d. Nutarimu Nr. X-1569 "D•1 valstybin•s šeimos politikos koncepcijos patvirtinimo" patvirtintos valstybin•s šeimos politikos koncepcijos nuostat• atitikties Lietuvos Respublikos Konstitucijai), No. 21/2008, 28 September 2011 .

89 Lithuania, Seimas (2013), Law of amendment of 38 article of the Constitution of the Republic of Lithuania" (Lietuvos Respublikos 38 straipsnio papildymo ir pakeitimo \*statymas), No. XIIP-1217, 15 November 2013, available at: www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc 1?p id=459884.

<sup>90</sup> 15min.lt (2012), "Penktadalis lesbie•i• Lietuvoje augina vaikus", 23 September 2012, available at www.15min.lt/naujiena/aktualu/lietuva/penktadalis-homoseksualu-lietuvoje-augina-vaikus-56-256576.

<sup>91</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2014), Project of amendment of Children Rights Protection Law (*Vaiko teisi• apsaugos pagrind• •statymo pakeitimo projektas*, No. XIIP-1469(2), 2014, available at: <a href="https://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=464939&p\_tr2=2">www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=464939&p\_tr2=2</a>.

<sup>92</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2013) Project of the amendment of the 3.3 article of the Civil Code (*Civilinio kodekso 3.3 straipsnio pakeitimo* 

\*statymo projektas), No. XIIP-472, 7 October 2013, available at <a href="http://www.lrv.lt/Posed\_medz/2013/131023/20.pdf">http://www.lrv.lt/Posed\_medz/2013/131023/20.pdf</a>.

93 Lithuania, Government (2013), The government decision on the draft law of the amendment of Civil Code article 3.3, No. XIIP-472

and a Child Rights Law supplement an amendment of article 7 and the draft law No. XIIP-473 (*D•l Lietuvos Respublikos civilinio kodekso 3.3 straipsnio pakeitimo •statymo projekto Nr. XIIP-472 ir Lietuvos Respublikos vaiko teisi• apsaugos pagrind• •statymo papildymo \*statymo projekto Nr. XIIP-473*), No. 1167, 11 December 2013, available at <a href="https://www.e-tar.lt/portal/forms/legalAct.html?documentId=TAR.0542AD4328ED">www.e-tar.lt/portal/forms/legalAct.html?documentId=TAR.0542AD4328ED</a>.

94 Lithuania, Seimas (2014), The project of amendment of 224 and 259 articles of Administrative rights violations code and addition

<sup>94</sup> Lithuania, Seimas (2014), The project of amendment of 224 and 259 articles of Administrative rights violations code and addition of 188 article (*Lietuvos Respublikos Administracin• s teis• s pažeidim• kodekso 224 ir 259 straipsni• pakeitimo ir kodekso papildymo 188 straipsniu •statymas*), No. XIP-4490(3), 15 January 2014, available at: http://www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=464145.

<sup>95</sup> Lithuanian Gay League, "Ethics Office rules on censorship of Baltic Pride TV ads", 25 September 2013, available at http://www.ilga-

europe.org/home/guide europe/country by country/lithuania/ethics office rules on censorship of baltic pride tv ads.

96 Juskaite J. (2014), "Sprendimas neplatinti pasak• primena sovietin• cenz•r•" [Decision to ban distribution of story book reminds the societ censorship] Mano teis•s.lt 7 May, 2014, avalaible <a href="http://manoteises.lt/straipsnis/sprendimas-neplatinti-pasaku-primena-sovietine-cenzura/">http://manoteises.lt/straipsnis/sprendimas-neplatinti-pasaku-primena-sovietine-cenzura/</a>

- <sup>97</sup> Diary of a lesbian woman, expecting a baby with her partner in Lithuania, 2014 http://ivairiseima.lt/kategorija/lgbt-seimos/lgbtseimu-planavimas/lesbietes-dienorastis-mes-laukiames/
- Krasauskas I. (2014), "Balsuoju nežinau už k•", Irt.lt, 25 April, 2014, available at http://www.lrt.lt/naujienos/lietuvoje/2/41886/balsuoju nezinau uz ka.
- 99 The Lithuanian Tribune (2014), "Gražulis praised Russia and embarrassed Lithuanians at the Council of Europe", 10 February, 2014, available at http://www.lithuaniatribune.com/62877/mp-grazulis-praised-russia-and-embarrassed-lithuanians-at-the-council-ofeurope-201462877/.

  100 Lithuania, Seimas (2011), The Law on Protection against Domestic Violance (*Apsaugos nuo smurto artimoje aplinkoje apsaugos*
- \*statymas), No.XI-1425, 26 May 2011, available at www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_1?p\_id=400334&p\_query=&p\_tr2=2

<sup>101</sup>Eastern Europe Studies Centre, "Struggling for gender equality: Sharing Lithuanian and Bulgarian Experience", 2013, p. 19, available at www.hrmi.lt/uploaded/Documents/Strugling%20for%20Gender%20Equality\_2013\_EN.pdf.

- <sup>102</sup>UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (UN CEDAW) (2014). List of issues and questions in relation to the fifth periodic report of Lithuania. Addendum. Replies of Lithuania. 16 January 2014 CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5?Add.1 http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=CEDAW/C/LTU/Q/5/Add.1.

  103 The CEDAW Committee has expressed repeated concerns with the prevailing patriarchal attitudes and gender stereotypes in
- Lithuania.
- <sup>104</sup> United Nations (UN), Handbook for Legislation on Violence against Women, 2010, available at:
- www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/vaw/handbook/Handbook%20for%20legislation%20on%20violence%20against%20women.pdf <sup>105</sup> Vyšniauskien• L., "Popierinis kovos su smurtu •statymas džiugina tik politikus", *alfa.lt.*, 15 December 2012, available at
- www.alfa.lt/index.php/straipsnis/15070965/popierinis-kovos-su-smurtu-istatymas-dziugina-tik-politikus

  106 Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (*Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras*), Communication with women 's NGO, 25 November 2013
- 107 Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO, 29 October 2013
- <sup>108</sup> Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO, 25 November 2013 109 European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2014) "Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Main results report", 5

March 2013, available at http://fra.europa.eu/en/press-release/2014/violence-against-women-every-day-and-everywhere

- 110 Lithuania, Ministry of Social security and labour (Socialine's apsaugos ir darbo ministerija) (2013) The results of the contest of projects on implementation of National strategy for reducing violence against women (Projekt\*, skirt\* \*gyvendinti Valstybin\*s smurto prieš moteris mažinimo strategijos priemones, atrankos konkurso rezultatai), 15 October 2013, available at: www.socmin.lt/index.php?359611476
- <sup>111</sup>Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO, 29 October 2013, 25 November 2013, 19 December 2013.
- 112 Krapavickait• D. (2013), "Moterys dažnai atleidžia smurtautojams", Kauno diena, Lithuania, 16 March 2012, available at: kauno.diena.lt/naujienos/miestas/moterys-daznai-atleidzia-smurtautojams-414754; Vilimait• S.
- "Lietuvoje siau• ja smurto prieš moteris epidemija", 15.min.lt, 17 October 2013, available at www.15min.lt/ikrauk/naujiena/svarbu/lietuvoje-siaucia-smurto-pries-moteris-epidemija-515-377823
- 113 Eastern Europe Studies Centre, "Struggling for gender equality: Sharing Lithuanian and Bulgarian Experience", 2013, p. 20, available at www.hrmi.lt/uploaded/Documents/Strugling%20for%20Gender%20Equality 2013 EN.pdf
- 114 Coalition Women's Rights Universal Human Rights (2013), Letter of Appeal on the Implementation of the Law on Protection against Domestic Violence, No. 13490, 24-10-2013; Letter of Appeal adressed to the President of Lithuania, Chair of the Seimas (Parliament), Prime Minister of Lithuania, Ministers of Justice, Social Security and Labour, Interior and Finance. Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO. 29 October 2013, 25 November 2013, 19 December 2013.
- 115 Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO. 25 November
- <sup>116</sup>European Court of Human Rights, "Case of Valiulien• v. Lithuania", Strasbourg, No. 33234/07, 26 March 2013, available at www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/convention-violence/caselaw/CASE%200F%20VALIULIENE%20v.%20LITHUANIA.pdf; European Court of Human Rights ,, Case of Praskevicien v. Lithuania", Strasbourg, No.27920/08, 26 March 2013, available at www.hrmi.lt/uploaded/PDF%20dokai/HRMI%20submissions\_PRASKEVICIENE.pdf.
- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, "Violence against women: an EU-wide survey. Main results report", 2014, available at http://fra.europa.eu/en/press-release/2014/violence-against-women-every-day-and-everywhere
- <sup>118</sup>As the European Women's Lobby stresses, "Still in the process of ratification, the convention sets the minimum standards for comprehensive policies on many forms of violence against women, recognising that "violence against women is deeply rooted in women's inequality in society and is perpetuated by a culture of tolerance and denial", p.4, available at

http://www.womenlobby.org/spip.php?action=acceder\_document&arg=2968&cle=fc9944b3d7fea2882e942bd9fdc604095eb75751&f ile=pdf%2Fewl barometre final 11092013.pdf.

- 119 Center for Equal Advancement (CEA) (Lygi• galimybi• pl•tros centras), Communication with women's NGO, 29 October 2013 <sup>120</sup> European Women's Lobby, "EWL barometer on rape in the EU 2013", June 2013, p. 48, available at http://www.womenlobby.org/spip.php?action=acceder\_document&arg=2968&cle=fc9944b3d7fea2882e942bd9fdc604095eb75751&f ile=pdf%2Fewl barometre final 11092013.pdf.
- Saukien• I. (2012) "Apklausa: šeimoje seksualin• prievart• patiria tik moterys, tiek vyrai", delfi.lt., 8 August, 2012, available at http://www.delfi.lt/news/daily/health/apklausa-seimoje-seksualine-partneriu-prievarta-patiria-tiek-moterys-tiek-vyrai.d?id=59452409

Lithuania, Seimas (2000), The law on the approval and of the Criminal Code. Criminal Code (Baudžiamojo kodekso patvirtinimo, •sigaliojimo ir •gyvendinimo •statymas. Baudžiamasis kodeksas), No. 89-2741. 26 September 2000, available at: www3.lrs.lt/pls/inter3/dokpaieska.showdoc\_l?p\_id=465371.

# **ANNEX I. Information about the Center for Equality Advancement**

Center for Equality Advancement (CEA) is a Vilnius-based NGO carrying its work since 2003. It aims at changing stereotypes in order to build a safer society. CEA organizes informational and advocacy campaigns, runs training courses and seminars, publishes articles and manuals, carries out research, provides expertise on the themes of gender equality, diversity and human rights.

From its establishment in 2003 CEA, individually and in partnership with other non-governmental organisations as well as governmental institutions, has implemented a large number of projects focusing on gender equality, gender based violence, gender mainstreaming, intersectionality, human rights, non-discrimination, integration of non-EU immigrants and other relevant topics. A significant part of the project work has been devoted to research, data collection and analysis, preparation and publication of various manuals and methodologies and developing the concepts of social campaigns. CEA actively participates in human rights advocacy work, provides position papers on critical issues in policies on gender and other inequalities, participates in drafting legal acts on prevention of domestic violence, non-discrimination and reduction of social exclusion, contributes to shadow and alternative reports to CEDAW, UPR and other international and European bodies.

CEA have participated in variety of professional and civic networks and initiatives, including but not limited to the following:

- ☐ International Gender Policy Network (IGPN);
- □ AWID the Association for Women's Rights in Development;
- □ National network of women's NGOs REGINA;
- □ National Non-Governmental Development Cooperation Organisations' Platform (NGDO Platform):
- □ European Network against Racism;
- ☐ Gender Equality network of women NGOs and politicians of East-Central Europe;
- □ Lithuanian Human Rights Coalition;

# ANNEX II. List of Women's NGOs contributing to this shadow report

- 1. Association "Kaunas Women's Society" (Asociacija "Kauno moter• draugija");
- 2. Association "Women's innovation centre" (Asociacija Moter• veiklos inovacij• centras);
- 3. Association "Taurage women's employment and information centre" (Asociacija Taurag•s moter• užimtumo ir informacijos centras);
- 4. Social service centre in Gargždai (Gargžd• socialini• paslaug• centras);
- 5. Kaunas women's information and employment centre (Kauno moter• informacijos ir užimtumo centras);
- 6. Kaunas district men's crisis centre (Kauno apskrities vyr• krizi• centras);
- 7. Kretinga women's information and training centre (Kretingos moter• infomracijos ir mokym• centras);
- 8. Women's club "Alanta" in Kartena (Kartenos moter• klubas "Alanta");
- 9. Marijampole women's house crises centre (Marijampol•s moter• namai- krizi• centras);
- 10. Women's issues information centre (Moter• informacijos centras);
- 11. Panev•žys women's employment and information centre (Panev•žio moter• užimtumo ir informacijos centras);
- 12. Welfare society for persons with mental disability "Kretingos hope" (Sutrikusio intelekto žmoni• globos bendrija "Kretingos viltis");
- 13. Association of family planning and reproductive health (Šeimos planavimo ir seksualin•s sveikatos asociacija);
- 14. Third century university, the faculty in Panev•žys (Tre•iojo amžiaus universiteto Panev•žio fakultetas);
- 15. Civic organization "Branda" (Visuomenin• organizacija "Branda");
- 16. New generation women's initiatives (Naujos kartos moter• iniciatyvos);
- 17. Telšiai crisis center (Telši• krizi• centras).